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1                      PROCEEDINGS

2               (Whereupon Applicant's Exhibits 1 and

3 2 were marked for

4 purposes of

5 identification as of

6 this date.)

7      JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Pursuant to the authority

8 vested in me by the Commission, I now call for

9 hearing Docket Number 02-0199 which concerns the

10 application of National Directory Assistance, LLC,

11 for a certificate to become a telecommunications

12 carrier. 

13          Will the parties please enter their

14 appearances for the record. 

15      MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Judge.  My name is

16 Gary Lloyd Smith.  My business address is 1204 South

17 Fourth Street, Springfield, Illinois 62703.  I am an

18 attorney licensed to practice in Illinois and I am

19 appearing on behalf of the Applicant National

20 Directory Assistance, LLC. 

21      MS. MARSHALL:  Judith Marshall, appearing on

22 behalf of the Telecommunications Division, Illinois
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1 Commerce Commission, 527 East Capitol Avenue,

2 Springfield, Illinois.

3 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  There has been some documents

4 that have been submitted after the application was

5 filed.  When the witness testifies, you can have him

6 identify what those additional exhibits are.  And I

7 believe Mr. Speed is hooked up by telephone.

8      MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

9      JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Mr. Speed, I am going to swear

10 you in.

11               (Whereupon the Witness was duly sworn

12 by Judge Showtis.)

13     You may proceed, Mr. Smith.

14 THOMAS F. SPEED

15 called as a Witness on behalf of Applicant, having

16 been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as

17 follows:

18 DIRECT EXAMINATION

19      BY MR. SMITH:

20 Q. Tom, if you would, please state your name and

21 spell your last name for the court reporter.

22 A. My name is Thomas F. Speed, Jr., and Speed is
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1 spelled S-P-E-E-D.

2 Q. And your position with National Directory

3 Assistance, LLC, is what?

4 A. I am president.

5 Q. And what is the nature of the business of

6 National Directory Assistance?

7 A. We provide a wholesale directory assistance

8 look-up to the independent telephone company, and

9 then along with that offer the opportunity for the

10 end user to have a call connect at the end of that

11 call.

12 Q. On a resold basis?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. How long has your company been in business?

15 A. It's a Delaware LLC formulated March 27, 2001.

16 Q. Now, for the record I am going to hand you what

17 we have had marked here as Applicant's Exhibit 2, a

18 little out of -- we will go out of order.  And this

19 is a document filed with the Illinois Secretary of

20 State dated September 17, 2001.  Do you have a copy

21 of that in front of you?

22 A. Yes, I can get one.
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1 Q. And is it correct that your company caused to

2 register the Delaware LLC with the Illinois

3 Secretary of State?

4 A. Yes, sir.

5 Q. And it's your understanding that your company

6 is in good standing with the Illinois Secretary of

7 State?

8 A. Yes, sir.

9 Q. And Exhibit 2, according to your understanding,

10 is a true and accurate copy of the same?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Now, is National Directory licensed to provide

13 this service in other states?

14 A. Yes.  Presently we have certificates to provide

15 retail service in 23 states.

16 Q. Okay.  And you are up and operating now, is

17 that correct?

18 A. In Indiana and Ohio, yes.

19 Q. And is there any reason why you are not

20 operating in the other states yet?

21 A. Just because we haven't gotten there yet. 

22 Indiana and Ohio are where we focused.  There are a
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1 lot of independents there; that is exclusively what

2 we market to.  And the other states have only become

3 certificated in the last 60 days.

4 Q. Okay.  And is it your plan to provide the

5 service that you have described within the

6 continental 48 states?

7 A. Yes, sir.

8 Q. Would you kind of walk us through the 411 or

9 directory assistance service that you are proposing

10 to provide here in kind of a functional way?

11 A. Sure.  There will be basically three scenarios. 

12 One is, let's take an independent company that is in

13 Illinois.  Geneseo is one example.  If you were a

14 local resident and wanted to place a 411 call, the

15 resident would pick up the phone, dial 411.  It

16 would go to the Geneseo switch.  The Geneseo switch

17 would then translate that 411 into an outbound 811

18 number that would terminate into a call center that

19 we have contracted with to provide the hook-ups and

20 the operator would -- that would prompt a recording

21 that says, "411 can now help you find numbers

22 anywhere in the country."  The operator would come
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1 on board and say what city, what state and what

2 listing.  And in the case of the first scenario, if

3 you are looking for the local pizza hut in Geneseo,

4 the operator would say thank you, your number and

5 release it to audio which would play a recording

6 that says your number is and then repeat that again. 

7 And then the number would be disconnected. 

8          The second scenario would be if you are in

9 Geneseo and you want a number in Springfield, let's

10 say you want Gary Smith's number, the same scenario

11 would happen.  The 411 would translate to the 800

12 number.  The prompt would be, "We can now help you

13 find anyone in the country."  The operator would say

14 what city, what state, what listing.  And then it

15 would be prompted to say, "We can complete your call

16 automatically at the end of this message.  Your

17 number is NDA-XXX.  National Directory Assistance is

18 completing your call to..." and repeats the number

19 again.  "Or you may hang up and dial your number." 

20 Same scenario would happen if you were doing one in

21 Chicago, which would be the third scenario, or

22 outside Illinois.
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1 Q. Well, Illinois is still in Chicago the last

2 time I looked or maybe it's the other way around. 

3 There are some political dissensions every once in

4 awhile about Chicago being a different state but we

5 will leave that aside for a moment.

6 A. Sorry.

7 Q. Well, would a third possibility be if a caller

8 made a 411 call for a number within the local

9 exchange and decided to let it be connected rather

10 than dialing it directly him or herself?

11 A. That's true, yes.

12 Q. Okay.  Well, let's go through the possibilities

13 here.  Obviously, on the first one where the

14 customer dials it himself, you wouldn't bill that

15 call at all?

16 A. No, no.

17 Q. How would the 411 call be billed in that

18 instance?

19 A. Well, since we are a wholesale provider, we

20 would provide that call detail record to the

21 independent phone company and they would be tariffed

22 and billed under their tariff, under their rates on
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1 the independent's bill.

2 Q. And your compensation would be what?

3 A. The difference between their wholesale look-up

4 price that we charge them and what they charge their

5 customer.

6 Q. Okay.  Now, let's take your second scenario

7 where the customer calls 411 for an interexchange

8 call within the state of Illinois and elects to

9 allow National Directory to do a call connect.  How

10 is that billed and handled?

11 A. If you divide that into two calls, the first

12 that the independent would be billed for is the

13 look-up.  They would then again bill --

14 Q. The look-up meaning directory assistance?

15 A. Correct, yes.  And at the end of that call when

16 the end user decides to stay on and call connect, we

17 would record that call data and then give that call

18 data to the independent to be billed as a third page

19 on their bill.

20 Q. Now, that would be a, in a sense, a toll call

21 or an interexchange call within Illinois on a resold

22 basis, is that correct?
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1 A. That is correct.

2 Q. And has your company made arrangements with

3 another carrier to handle that traffic?

4 A. Yes.  We have MCI and Global Crossing.

5 Q. And then with regard to the third possibility

6 where a customer stays on and elects to have a call

7 connect made within the exchange, how is that billed

8 and handled?

9 A. Again, that would be billed through the

10 independent phone company as a third page on their

11 bill.

12 Q. And in that instance, though, the local

13 telephone company would be handling the local

14 traffic; your only function would be as the

15 directory assistance function?

16 A. Exactly.

17 Q. Now, we have submitted as a supplement to the

18 application additional appendices B, C and D to the

19 application which we have marked as Exhibit 2.

20 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Exhibit 1, I think.

21 Q. Pardon me, I stand corrected.  Exhibit 1, thank

22 you.  Mr. Speed, will your company in any way be
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1 handling any 9-1-1 calls?

2 A. No.

3 Q. It's not essentially possible, is it?

4 A. No, it's not.

5 Q. With regard to local exchanges service, your

6 company won't actually be providing local exchange

7 service, will it?

8 A. No, sir.

9 Q. And you submitted a financial statement with

10 the application?

11 A. Yes, sir.

12 Q. And is the company's financial position today

13 substantially the same as that earlier submitted?

14 A. Yes, it is.

15 Q. And with regard to any slamming or cramming,

16 will your company -- is there any possibility of

17 that ever occurring?

18 A. There is not.  The only way that an end user

19 would be able to access our service is through the

20 411.

21 Q. You won't be taking any customer deposits or

22 anything of that nature?
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1 A. No, sir.

2 Q. Now, together with the application you have

3 submitted certain resume's of the managers of the

4 company, is that correct?

5 A. Yes, sir.

6 Q. Who else in the company -- let me back up.  Do

7 you do the day-to-day business of the company?

8 A. Yes, sir.

9 Q. And are you the primary person responsible and

10 in charge of the company's operations?

11 A. Yes, sir.

12 Q. Who else is a principal in the company?

13 A. That is -- day-to-day functions would be Steve

14 Ferry, Steven Ferry.

15 Q. How do you spell his last name?

16 A. F-E-R-R-Y.  And Steven is advice president in

17 charge of sales.

18 Q. And does he operate that as a full time job?

19 A. Yes, he does.

20 Q. And your job with the company is a full time

21 job?

22 A. Yes, sir.  And in charge of information
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1 services is Jeff Wheeler, W-H-E-E-L-E-R.

2 Q. And are those the three principals involved

3 with the company?

4 A. Yes, sir.

5      MR. SMITH:  I believe those are the only

6 questions I have.  I move for the admission of

7 Applicant's Exhibits 1 and 2.

8 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Any objections?

9      MS. MARSHALL:  No, no objections.

10 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Applicant's Exhibits 1 and 2

11 are admitted. 

12 (Whereupon Applicant's

13 Exhibits 1 and 2 were

14 admitted into evidence.)

15          Staff may cross-examine.

16 CROSS EXAMINATION

17      BY MS. MARSHALL:

18 Q. Yes.  Mr. Speed, first I wanted to ask you a

19 few questions about the nature of the service that

20 you are providing.  At what point will the customer

21 become aware that their long distance carrier that

22 they have preselected is not carrying the long



16

1 distance call when they have it connected through

2 411?

3 A. When they have received the number for the

4 first time, it will say "Your number is" and then

5 right after that it will give the prompt "National

6 Directory Assistance is completing your call to" and

7 then it repeats the number the second time.  And

8 then the next recording is "or you may hang up and

9 dial your number."

10 Q. Okay.  So you believe that that statement makes

11 it clear to the purchaser that they are purchasing

12 long distance service from National Directory?  I am

13 concerned here about the slamming/cramming aspect

14 and that is the customer's knowledge that their

15 previously picked carrier is not being used.

16 A. The recorded message is "The National Directory

17 Assistance is completing your call to" and so we are

18 stating our name.

19      MR. SMITH:  Or hang up and dial again.

20      MS. MARSHALL:  Sure, okay.  Perhaps we should

21 go off the record.

22 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Okay. 
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1 (Whereupon there was

2 then had an

3 off-the-record

4 discussion.)

5 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Go ahead.

6 Q. Mr. Speed, I have some questions about the

7 application that you have filed with the Commission. 

8 First of all, in response to Question 3 you have

9 requested a waiver for Part 735.  Is this waiver

10 applicable only to your provision of long distance

11 service?

12      MR. SMITH:  You might want to tell him what 735

13 is.

14 Q. 735 is the procedures for credit billing and

15 termination procedures and so forth.  In other

16 words, they are the customer protection part, you

17 might say.

18 A. Okay.

19 Q. And the waiver you have requested, is that

20 related only to long distance service?

21 A. That's right.

22 Q. Now, earlier Mr. Smith asked you some questions
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1 about day-to-day management of the company.  Could

2 you tell me who is responsible for the accounting

3 and record keeping of the company?

4 A. That would be me.

5 Q. Okay.  Now, Question Number 2 deals with local

6 exchange carriers.  Is the reason that that response

7 is marked not applicable because you won't be

8 providing any local services?

9 A. That's correct.

10 Q. And now I have just a few questions about the

11 balance sheet that was submitted with the

12 application.  And this was a balance sheet as of

13 January 28, 2002.  Do you have that there?

14 A. Yes, I do.

15 Q. First of all, I would like, if you would, if

16 you could explain to me about the current asset for

17 the member receivables.  There are two individuals

18 there with receivables of $150,000 each?

19 A. Mr. Gardener and Mr. Speed, two partners in the

20 company, pledged to fund the company for that

21 $300,000 total.

22 Q. And could you explain why that's a current



19

1 receivable?

2 A. Because the company can call it any time.

3 Q. And you have listed an asset purchase of

4 $55,000.  Could you explain in general terms what

5 that is?

6 A. In general terms it's the intellectual property

7 of a company called U.S. Connect that originally had

8 pursued this business plan and had done a certain

9 amount of work as far as financial projections and

10 other conceptual ideas that National Directory

11 Assistance purchased from them.

12 Q. And that was -- previously that was your

13 company?

14 A. No.

15 Q. Okay.  It was your employer, is that correct?

16 A. I am sorry, my employer?

17 Q. No, I am sorry.  I was looking at somebody's

18 resume' and I thought I saw that name in here but

19 perhaps I didn't.  Tell me again what the name of

20 that company was.

21 A. U.S. Connect.

22 Q. And did you have any relationship with U.S.
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1 Connect?

2 A. No.

3 Q. And then going on down that balance sheet,

4 there are some long term member receivables, and

5 could you explain what the nature of those accounts

6 are?

7 A. That's two individuals.  It would be to Steven

8 Ferry and Jeff Wheeler and that was for purchase of

9 units to give them an opportunity to participate in

10 the ownership of the company.

11 Q. So those assets are offset by the capital

12 accounts?

13 A. Correct.

14 Q. Then would the amount of cash on hand which on

15 this sheet is indicated to be approximately $95,000,

16 is that amount of cash still on hand today

17 approximately?

18 A. Today I think there is 20,000.

19 Q. So the assets of the company would be the

20 $20,000 and then the other primary backing would be

21 the $300,000 member receivables?

22 A. Correct.
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1      MS. MARSHALL:  Okay.  That's all the questions

2 I have.

3 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  I just had a couple questions.

4 EXAMINATION

5      BY JUDGE SHOWTIS:

6 Q. For how long has the applicant been operating

7 in, with what was it, Indiana and Ohio?

8 A. Yes.  Service was began the second week of

9 February.

10 Q. Of this year?

11 A. Yes, sir.

12 Q. Then when did the Applicant first start to

13 receive revenues for its services?

14 A. In March.

15 Q. What's the negative net income on the balance

16 sheet?  What's that attributable to, the minus

17 $5,224?  This was on the balance sheet as of January

18 28, 2002.

19 A. Just operational expenses.

20 Q. So you had operational expenses -- that

21 reflected operational expenses where you didn't get

22 revenues coming in?
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1 A. Correct.

2 Q. I would expect that it's your intention for the

3 applicant to operate at a profit?

4 A. Yes.

5      JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Let's go off the record for a

6 second. 

7 (Whereupon there was

8 then had an

9 off-the-record

10 discussion.)

11 Q. Mr. Speed, it's the position of applicant that

12 it only requires a certificate from this Commission

13 as a reseller of interexchange telecommunications

14 service and that applicant will not be operating as

15 a reseller of local exchange service, is that

16 correct?

17 A. That is correct.

18 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Does staff agree that, based on

19 the description of the operations of applicant given

20 by Mr. Speed, only a certificate under Section

21 13-404 for the resale of interexchange service would

22 be needed by the applicant? 
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1      MS. MARSHALL:  That's my understanding, yes.

2 Q. Mr. Speed, I believe applicant has requested

3 authority to keep its books and records outside of

4 Illinois pursuant to 83 Illinois Administrative Code

5 Part 250.  Would they be kept at the address in

6 Louisville, Kentucky that's on the application?

7 A. Yes, sir.

8 Q. Is that your principal place of business?

9 A. Yes, sir.

10 Q. And just so I am clear, we have used the term

11 "independent carriers."  Would you just explain what

12 you meant by independent carriers?

13 A. Independently-owned telephone companies,

14 non-RBOC.

15 Q. So you would be available to provide this

16 service for any local exchange carrier in Illinois

17 other than Ameritech and Verizon, is that correct?

18 A. Yes, sir.

19 Q. Just a couple last questions.  When do you

20 expect to commence service in other states in which

21 you are certificated right now but not yet providing

22 service?
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1 A. I expect specifically in Illinois that it will

2 be within the next 90 days, after the approval

3 process.

4 Q. I take it you initially expect to provide

5 service in the Midwest and then possibly expand to

6 other regions of the United States?

7 A. Exactly.  I mean, geographically we will stay

8 closer to Kentucky and then branch out from there.

9 Q. Just with regard to the waiver of Part 710

10 which pertains to the Commission's Uniform System of

11 Accounts, it's my understanding from the answers in

12 Appendix C that applicant will maintain its records

13 in accordance with generally accepted accounting

14 principles, is that correct?

15 A. Yes, sir.

16 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Okay.  That's all the questions

17 I have.

18 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

19      BY MR. SMITH: 

20 Q. Mr. Speed, with regard to initiating service in

21 Illinois, do you have a prospective customer waiting

22 for you to become certificated?
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1 A. We have an interested party.  I don't know if

2 we are at the point of -- we have talked about the

3 services that we offer.  He has expressed interest

4 but there is no deadlines, no.

5 Q. The sooner you can become certificated, the

6 sooner the possibility is of providing service to

7 some customer who is interested, anyway?

8 A. Yes, sir.

9      MR. SMITH:  Can we go off the record?  

10 (Whereupon there was

11 then had an

12 off-the-record

13 discussion.)

14 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Let's go back on the record. 

15 Ms. Jackson, would you like to enter your appearance

16 for the record?

17 MS. JACKSON:  Yes.  Alcinda Jackson, Consumer

18 Services Division, 527 East Capitol Avenue,

19 Springfield, Illinois.

20 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Mr. Smith, do you have some

21 additional questions of Mr. Speed?

22 MR. SMITH:  I do.  Thank you, Judge.
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1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION (Cont.d)

2      BY MR. SMITH:

3 Q. Mr. Speed, before we broke the last time, there

4 was some discussion regarding the recorded message

5 that would be disclosed to the 411 customer.  And

6 you and I have had an opportunity to talk about that

7 a little bit further, haven't we?

8 A. Yes.

9 Q. With regard to Ms. Marshall's concern earlier

10 about the nature of the message, do you have a new

11 proposal to make as to what the recorded message

12 would say to the customer after giving the number

13 information sought?

14 A. Yes, my suggestion was, after announcing the

15 name of the company, National Directory Assistance,

16 is completing your call and repeating the number the

17 second time, was to announce the price per minute

18 that the call would be completed.  And then at the

19 conclusion of the recording have which I have stated

20 before, which was "or you may hang up and dial your

21 number."

22 Q. Well, that wouldn't be at the conclusion; that
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1 would be part of it?

2 A. Well, it would be at the conclusion of the

3 prompt and then the call would be released, yes.

4 Q. So what you are proposing then is that when the

5 customer is given the number requested, that the

6 recording would disclose that National Directory is

7 completing your call at a certain rate per minute,

8 is that correct?

9 A. Yes.

10 Q. And that you would also say to the customer

11 that the customer could hang up and dial that number

12 him or herself?

13 A. Correct.

14 Q. And by disclosing that National Directory would

15 complete the call, it's your understanding that you

16 would be informing the customer that National

17 Directory would be the long distance carrier on a

18 resold basis for that one call, is that correct?

19 A. Yes, sir.

20 Q. And in no way would this change the customer's

21 long distance carrier for any other purpose, is that

22 correct?
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1 A. That is correct.

2 Q. And just so that we make sure Ms. Jackson

3 understands the nature of this, the customer would

4 be billed for that call on the long distance -- or I

5 am sorry, on the local exchange carrier's bill, is

6 that correct?

7 A. Yes.

8 Q. And it would be at your tariffed rate?

9 A. Correct.

10      MR. SMITH:  I have no further questions of the

11 witness and submit the witness to examination by the

12 staff.

13 CROSS EXAMINATION

14      BY MS. JACKSON: 

15 Q. And these rates and tariffs, these rates would

16 be included in your tariffs?

17 A. Yes, ma'am.

18 Q. And if and when these rates changed, your

19 tariffs would be updated and so would the recording?

20 A. Yes, ma'am.

21 Q. And you believe this is full disclosure to your

22 customer as to what's happening with their call?
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1 A. Yes, ma'am.

2 Q. Are there any other expenses that the customer

3 would incur by making this call?

4 A. No, ma'am.

5 Q. Other than what you have denoted in the rates?

6 A. Other than the appropriate taxes.

7 MS. JACKSON:  Okay.  That's all I have.

8 MR. SMITH:  Just so you understand, we have

9 previously established before you came in,

10 Ms. Jackson, that there wouldn't be any other

11 charges for the call, but the customer would be

12 charged for the 411 information.  Just so you are

13 aware that it's sort of a two-step process.  That

14 part would be billed if they hung up and didn't dial

15 anything.

16 MS. JACKSON:  But that's similar to what

17 happens with any customer calling today any carrier.

18 MR. SMITH:  But I just wanted to make sure you

19 understood that the record has already been

20 established that way so far.

21 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Ms. Jackson, are you satisfied

22 that this procedure would eliminate any concerns
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1 about slamming or cramming?

2 MS. JACKSON:  Yes, I am.

3 EXAMINATION

4      BY JUDGE SHOWTIS:

5 Q. Just one question, Mr. Speed, just so I

6 understand.  How long is the customer given to hang

7 up before it is transferred?

8 A. Listening to -- from the time that the

9 recording says we can complete your call

10 automatically to the last portion of that recording

11 is roughly about 28 seconds.

12 Q. Tell me again what the 28 seconds represents

13 from when the customer dials 411.

14 A. From the time that the operator releases the

15 number after the look-up, the search, until they

16 have the opportunity to -- it goes into the

17 completion cycle, the prompt.

18 Q. So and what are you referring to when you say

19 it goes to the prompt?

20 A. Well, the prompts are what I would consider the

21 recordings.  Okay, "You can complete your call

22 automatically at the end of the message," and then,
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1 "The number is" and then it reads the ten digits,

2 and then "National Directory Assistance is

3 completing your call to" and it reads the ten digits

4 again, "at X cents per minute or you may hang up and

5 dial your number."

6 Q. Okay.  And then after the words "or you may

7 hang up or dial the number"--

8 MR. SMITH:  How long before?

9 Q. I am trying to get the period of time from the

10 last part of the recorded message until when the

11 customer can hang up before the call is completed.

12 A. It has answer supervision, so however long the

13 time would take.  That time period would vary

14 depending upon the number of rings.  So if you are

15 counting from the time period there until the first

16 ring, I would say it would be six seconds.  Do you

17 understand what I mean?

18 MS. JACKSON:  I don't understand.

19 Q. I am just trying get the time frame between

20 when the recording is over, that is when -- or you

21 can hang up and dial yourself and when the call --

22 between that time frame and when the call is more or
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1 less completed by National Directory.

2 MR. SMITH:  I think that was the six seconds,

3 wasn't it?

4 A. Yes.  But also you have to understand that it

5 has answer supervision.  If -- let's say that you

6 hold for the call connect and it rings and no one

7 ever answers, there will never be a charge.

8 Q. So if I understand what you are saying, if the

9 customer doesn't hang up at the end of the recording

10 in about roughly six seconds, the phone will start

11 ringing?

12 A. Correct, yes.

13 MS. JACKSON:  Can I ask a question?

14 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Yeah.

15 MS. JACKSON:  Is that six seconds an industry

16 standard?  I mean, is that a normal amount of time?

17 THE WITNESS:  I think it's a ring cycle.

18 MS. JACKSON:  Do you have the capability of

19 building in more time to that six seconds?

20 THE WITNESS: No.  That's just going to be the

21 way the industry standards are.

22 MS. JACKSON:  Okay.  But, I mean, other
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1 carriers that have this time frame, theirs is six

2 seconds, too?

3 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

4 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  That's all the questions I

5 have.

6 MR. SMITH:  That's all I have.

7 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Off the record. 

8 (Whereupon there was

9 then had an

10 off-the-record

11 discussion.)

12     Ms. Marshall, I believe Cindy Jackson

13 covered the areas of slamming and cramming.  Would

14 you state your position with regard to whether the

15 requested certificate to provide the resale of

16 interexchange telecommunication services should be

17 granted to the applicant?

18 MS. MARSHALL:  At this time I know of no reason

19 why the requested authority should not be granted.

20 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  I assume the applicant does not

21 have anything else to present?

22 MR. SMITH:  We have nothing further, although
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1 does Ms. Jackson have a recommendation or was that

2 on behalf of both staff?

3 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Yes, Cindy was just covering

4 the slamming and cramming issue.

5 MR. SMITH:  You are okay?

6 MS. JACKSON:  I am okay as long as he uses this

7 revised language consistent with Ohio.

8 JUDGE SHOWTIS:  Okay.  Then the record will be

9 marked heard and taken. 

10 HEARD AND TAKEN

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22


